
IN  THE  UNITED  STATES  DISTRICT  COURT
FOR  THE  DISTRICT  OF  MASSACHUSETTS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

           v.

INOCENTE ORLANDO MONTANO

        No. 12-CR-10044-DPW

DEFENDANT’S  SENTENCING  MEMORANDUM

Defendant, Inocente Orlando Montano, respectfully submits the following memorandum,

attached report, and related appendix submitted by retired General Mauricio Ernesto Vargas to

assist the Court with sentencing.

On September 11, 2012, Mr. Montano was charged in a six-count superseding

information charging him with immigration fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a) (Counts 1,

3, 5, and 7), and perjury, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1621(2) (Counts 2, 4, and 6). Mr. Montano

has been supervised by Pretrial Services since the date of his release on specific conditions on

August 24, 2011.  One of the conditions imposed was that he remain in home confinement and it

has been monitored with an electronic bracelet.

Mr. Montano submits that a sentence of five years of probation, is sufficient, but not

greater than necessary, to effectuate the purposes of sentencing set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).

This is a modest downward departure or variance from the applicable guidelines range of 15-21

months established by this Court at day one of the sentencing hearing conducted on January 15,

2013.   The government’s arguments in support of a sentence that is nearly three times the high

end of this range are fundamentally flawed.  First, the purported record of human rights

violations that the government attributes to Mr. Montano as a member of the Salvadoran military
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and in his capacity as Vice Minister of Public Security is based upon an erroneous understanding

of the country’s military and governmental hierarchies during the relevant time period.  More

importantly, the information compiled by the government’s expert to support these assertions is

unreliable.  Second, there is no basis in fact for the government’s suggestion that Mr. Montano’s

history in El Salvador, including his alleged complicity in the Jesuit Massacre of 1989, is

relevant to the offense conduct in this case.  He had no hand in that event and there has never

been any attempt or threat  to prosecute Mr. Montano, for any reason, by the Salvadoran

government from the point at which the Jesuit killings took place in 1989 to the present day.  Mr.

Montano had no reason to flee to the United States and lie on immigration forms in order to

avoid a prosecution in his country that did not exist and would, for various reasons, never occur.  

Background1

A.  Offense conduct.

After a string of devastating earthquakes in January and February of 2001, El Salvador

was designated for the Temporary Protected Status (“TPS”) Program by the United States

Department of Justice and the Immigration and Naturalization Service.  See Federal Register,

Vol. 66, No. 47, Friday March 9, 2001;

http://www.justice.gov/eoir/vll/fedreg/2000_2001/fr09mr01N.pdf.  This designation allows

foreign nationals to remain in the United States legally if their home country has experienced an

1 The background provided here represents an extremely truncated summary of the
substantial biographical information presented in the PSR.
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ongoing armed conflict, environmental disaster, or other extraordinary and temporary conditions.

As result of the significant damage to El Salvador’s infrastructure, poor overall living conditions,

and health concerns for the general population, the country was not able to adequately handle the

return of its nationals in the wake of these natural disasters.  Id.   All Salvadoran citizens who

had been “continuously physically present” in the United States since March 9, 2001 and had

“continuously resided” here since February 13, 2001 were eligible to receive this immigration

benefit.  Id.  Those who could not meet this requirement were automatically disqualified.  To

maintain eligibility for TPS, those who were previously granted the benefit were required to re-

apply approximately annually.

The immigration form used to apply for the TPS benefit is the I-821.  Any individual

seeking TPS has to complete the I-821 by answering all of its questions truthfully and then

signing an affirmation under the pains and penalties of perjury.  Since there is a fixed date of

entry into the United States (February 13, 2001) that determines a Salvadoran national’s

eligibility for TPS, the answer to that question is material to the ultimate determination of United

States Immigration authorities.  The criminal charges that Mr. Montano accepted responsibility

for relate to his submission of I-821 forms in 2007, 2008, and 2010.  In each of those

applications, Mr. Montano falsely stated that he had entered the United States on September 30,

2000 when he had in fact entered on July 2, 2001.

   

B.  Mr. Montano’s history in the United States from 2001 to the present day.

Inocente Orlando Montano, now 70 years old, was born in El Salvador but has been

living in the United States since July of 2001. When he entered this country, he used his true
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name and date of birth.  He was photographed and his fingerprints were taken as part of the

United States Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”) protocol for acquiring the Temporary

Protected Status (“TPS”) benefit.2  During the decade plus that Mr. Montano has resided in the

United States, he has never attempted to use a false name or disguise his identity in any way.

Further, he has always lived in Massachusetts and has only had three different addresses, one of

which he remained at from 2003 through 2011.  See PSR ¶ 80. 

Similarly, Mr. Montano has had stable and steady employment during his time in this

country.  From 2003-2011, he worked at the NECCO Confectionary Manufacturing Plant in

Revere, MA.  He was a factory employee who worked on a production line earning a little over

$14.00 an hour.  See PSR ¶ 99.  Because of the prosecution of this case, Mr. Montano lost his job

at the NECCO plant and he and his wife were forced to move in with his sister in Saugus,

Massachusetts during the time he has been on Pretrial Services supervision.  See PSR ¶¶ 80, 99.

Mr. Montano has been compliant with the conditions of his release while on supervision.

On April 18, 2012, Mr. Montano was arrested at the Salvadoran Consulate in Boston.  He was

there attempting to renew his Salvadoran passport so that he could continue receiving benefits

related to his military pension.  Mr. Montano’s daughter receives these benefit payments in El

Salvador and depends on them for her day to day expenses.  In order to continue the flow of

payments to his daughter, Mr. Montano needed to renew his passport and sign various

documents at the consulate.  As result of his failure to communicate the situation adequately to

Pretrial Services, an arrest took place and Mr. Montano was brought before Magistrate Judge

2DHS requires that applicants for the TPS benefit pay a “biometric fee” which includes
photograph and fingerprint processing.  See http://www.uscis.gov/files/form/i-821instr.pdf
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Dein.  After hearing from defense counsel, and a representative of the Salvadoran Consulate,

regarding Mr. Montano’s purpose for renewing his passport, Judge Dein released Mr. Montano

on April 19, 2012.  Further, defense counsel filed a motion on Mr. Montano’s behalf to amend

the conditions of his release so he could renew his passport and secure his pension benefits for

his daughter.  Judge Dein allowed the request.  See Docket No.  38.  

In terms of his health, Mr. Montano suffers from a number of debilitating physical

conditions.  His bladder was removed in 2008 due to a diagnosis of cancer and he now has to

permanently use a colostomy bag.  See PSR ¶ 85.  Following his bladder cancer surgery, he

developed a bacterial infection where the incision was made and experienced weakness in his

knees and ankle.  The infection has persisted since that time and Mr. Montano is treated

regularly to control it by his primary care physician.  See PSR ¶ 86.  Since the time of the

surgery in 2008, he has suffered through repeated urinary tract infections.  Some of these have

led to hospitalizations at Brigham and Women’s Hospital.  Id.  He currently takes at least four

different medications for treatment of the infection, acid reflux, and skin irritations. Id.  Further,

Mr. Montano has developed arthritis in his knees, shoulder, and ankles and walks with the use of

a cane.  Lastly, he also suffers from irritable bowel syndrome and high blood pressure.  See PSR

¶ 87.

Although the pendency of this prosecution has been incredibly stressful for Mr. Montano 

given the order to remain in home confinement, his inability to work, his deteriorating health,

and his depressed demeanor, he has the unfailing support of family members here in the United

States.  These include his wife, Maria, and his sister Nora and her children.  Mr. Montano’s

remaining family include two adult children (one of whom is a member in good standing of the
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Salvadoran Armed Forces) as well as two brothers who currently live and work in El Salvador.

During his lengthy time in the United States, Mr.  Montano has never been arrested or

convicted of any criminal offense.  He has also never been arrested or prosecuted for any

criminal offense in El Salvador.  See attached Exhibit A, Certified documents from El Salvador. 

From the date of his entry into the United States in 2001 to the present, no formal request has

ever been made by the government of El Salvador for Mr. Montano’s extradition to allow for a

criminal prosecution or to speak to law enforcement officials in connection with any criminal

investigation.

C.  Background in El Salvador through 2001.

The United States of America had an intimate relationship with El Salvador and its

decade-long civil war from its beginnings in 1980.  The Salvadoran government and its military

found themselves hopelessly entangled in a violent struggle with a number of well organized

leftist rebel guerilla groups (five in total) that coalesced into what is now known as the

Farabundo Marti Liberation Front (“FMLN”).  This was a successful and extremely

sophisticated Marxist insurgency that was being supported by the flow of weapons from the

Soviet Union through Cuba, Nicaragua, Costa Rica and Belize.  Fearing a communist takeover of

the local government such as had been seen in Cuba, former Presidents Ronald Reagan and

George H.W. Bush, Sr., encouraged the development of policies favoring financial and military

support for the government of El Salvador and its armed forces.  President Ronald Reagan stated

“What we see in El Salvador is an attempt to destabilize the entire region and eventually move

chaos and anarchy toward the American border.”  Address to the Nation on United States Policy
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in Central America, May 9, 1984.  At the height of the war, this amounted to over one million

dollars of United States aid per day.  This continued over the course of a decade and over a

billion dollars was funneled into the country for the specific purpose of maintaining the

country’s democratic government and preventing communist expansion generally in Central

America.  

Inocente Orlando Montano interrupted his studies at the National University in El

Salvador in 1961 to  attend military school between 1962 and 1966.  At that time, he graduated

as a lieutenant and became a full member of the military. He served in various capacities

culminating in attaining the rank of colonel between 1963-1994.  He was later able to complete

his studies and obtain a degree in engineering.  During the latter part of his career in public

service, he was chosen by then President Alfredo E. Cristiani to serve in his cabinet as Vice

Minister of Public Security and later held a diplomatic post in Mexico .  See Docket No. 48,

letter from Alfredo E. Cristiani.

During his time in the military, Mr. Montano (along with other members of the

Salvadoran armed forces) received specialized training from the American military.  In 1982 he

attended a six month training program in Panama at the School of the Americas.  He also trained

with United States Army Special Forces personnel at Fort Benning, GA.3 The United States was

fully supportive of Mr. Montano, and the Salvadoran military generally, during this time and its

support was not limited to training sessions in Panama or within its own borders.  The United

3American Special Forces personnel were actively involved in training members of the
Salvadoran army’s Belloso Battalion which is referenced in the report of Professor Terry Lynn
Karl (“Karl report”) as an alleged repeated perpetrator of human rights violations. See Karl
report, pp. 41.
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States maintained a presence in El Salvador during its civil war in the form of various military

advisors and or intelligence personnel.  El Salvador was broken down into a number of

geographical districts that surrounded the capital of San Salvador.  Each of these districts

contained a Salvadoran military outpost and each outpost was attended by American

military/intelligence personnel who acted in an advisory capacity.

While involved with the Salvadoran military and its government, Mr. Montano traveled

to the United States on more than one occasion.  In addition to the training he received at Fort

Benning, Mr. Montano also traveled to the United States in his capacity as Vice Minister of

Public Security in 1990-1991.  He attended a specialized training program, run by the United

States Department of Justice, called the International Criminal Investigative Training Assistance

Program (“I.C.I.T.A.P.”). This program was developed in the United States and worked “with

foreign governments to develop professional and transparent law enforcement institutions that

protect human rights, combat corruption, and reduce the threat of transnational crime and

terrorism.”  See I.C.I.T.A.P mission statement, http://www.justice.gov/criminal/icitap/.  

Interestingly, this training took place in the wake of the Jesuit murders in 1989 at the time that

Professor Karl suggests Vice Minister Montano was actively obstructing the formal investigation

of those deaths.

Mr. Montano is a man of humble beginnings who obtained an education and rose through

the ranks of the Salvadoran military out of a true sense of patriotism.  See Report of General

Mauricio Ernesto Vargas, “Vargas Report”.  As a military engineer, he strove to improve

conditions in impoverished areas of El Salvador through programs designed to build schools,

athletic/recreational fields, and to modernize road and irrigation systems in rural areas.  In 1973,
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Mr. Montano used his engineering skills to help with a humanitarian effort in Mexico after a

devastating earthquake the killed and or displaced thousands.

The most notable of Mr. Montano’s humanitarian efforts in El Salvador at the beginning

of the military conflict with the FMLN was the founding in August of 1985 of an orphanage

called “El Hogar Infantil de Zacatecoluca”.  See Vargas Report.  This effort was done in

conjunction with the aid of the local Catholic Diocese with whom Mr. Montano has always

enjoyed a relationship of mutual admiration.  See Appendix to Vargas Report, Exhibit B, letters

of support from Mosignor Romeo Tovar Astorga, Bishop of Zacatecoluca.   Finally, in October

of 1986, Mr. Montano was involved in another large scale humanitarian and rescue effort with

the Salvadoran military to help the victims of a large scale earthquake that affected central San

Salvador.  These are just a few of the many examples of Mr. Montano’s positive public service

record which are detailed in the Vargas Report. 

        

D.  Motives for leaving El Salvador for the United States.

 The deaths of the Jesuit priests had taken place in November of 1989 during the height

of the FMLN’s most ambitious offensive.  Mr. Montano continued in his position as Vice

Minister of Public Security and then worked at his diplomatic position in Mexico through the

passage of the General Amnesty law that followed in 1993.  Mr. Montano was never accused or

implicated in the Jesuit killings either before or after the implementation of amnesty which

derived from the formal acceptance of the Salvadoran Peace Accords.  Colonel Guillermo

Alfredo Benavides and his confederates had  been tried and convicted of the murders of the

Jesuits and two civilians and the amnesty law freed them all from their convictions and prison
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terms in 1993.

From 1993 until 2001, Mr. Montano remained in El Salvador living and working in his

diplomatic position in Mexico and later as a private citizen.  Never once during that time was he

called before any judicial or military tribunal due to accusations of human rights violations or for

complicity in the murders of the Jesuits.  During the decade between 1990 and 2000, the political

climate in El Salvador was not a threat to Mr. Montano, the amnesty law was firmly in place, and

the prosecutions and convictions of military leaders in other Central American countries had no

bearing whatsoever on his decision to leave for the United States in 2001.

Although the Karl Report implies that these events did influence Mr. Montano, it also

suggests, albeit indirectly, that El Salvador was the safest place for him to remain.  Although the

political situation in the country changed in 2000 in a manner that supposedly favored a

prosecution of individuals tied to the Jesuit killings in 1989, the General Amnesty was in no

danger of disappearing and there was no movement in the law enforcement and judicial

communities to change the situation.4  See Karl Report, pp. 36.  Prof. Karl suggests that many

judges were reluctant to engage in discussions of prosecutions out of fear of former high-ranking

military officers who were currently “powerful businessmen” who are described in the report as

a band of thugs that had ties to organized crime.  Id.  If this were truly the case, why would any

of them, including Mr. Montano, have chosen to leave El Salvador in 2001 or at any time? 

Ironically, one of the things that truly did influence Mr. Montano’s decision to leave his country

4In 2008, even the FMLN relented and changed its position regarding the repeal of the
Amnesty law.  Many say this was motivated by two concerns: first, the desire to see an FMLN
candidate ascend to the Presidency (Mauricio Funes in 2009) and second, the desire to shield
former FMLN military commanders from being prosecuted for war crimes and human rights
violations.
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was the loss of a large part of his life savings in several business ventures that floundered and

then came to an abrupt end (local cable television company/service provider and a car-

wash/service venture similar to Jiffy Lube in the United States).  The reality was that he was

anything but a “powerful” businessman in his own country.

In addition to the financial difficulties he was experiencing, El Salvador was hit hard by

the aforementioned repeated major earthquakes in January and February of 2001.  These

disasters caused hundreds of deaths, major landslides, the destruction of thousands of homes, and

the spread of disease due to problems with sanitation and the availability of clean water.  See

http://www.justice.gov/eoir/vll/fedreg/2000_2001/fr09mr01N.pdf.   After living through these

horrendous hardships, Mr. Montano made an understandable decision to relocate to the United

States and join other family members who were already there.  It is beyond question that the

“threat” of prosecution for the deaths of the Jesuits had been non-existent in El Salvador for

more than a decade and thus had absolutely no relation to Mr. Montano’s decision to come to

this country.  Although an error in judgement, it is clear that misrepresenting his date of entry

into the United States on various TPS forms was initially prompted by a desire to avoid returning

to a country that was literally in ruins and where his financial situation was at its nadir with no

hope of improving in the near future.  Once Mr. Montano settled in the United States with his

family and engaged in steady employment, his motivations to stay were more related to his

ability to make a living and his desire to remain with his family in a place where he was

comfortable. 

 

Argument
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Mr. Montano submits that the proposed sentence of five years of probation will be

“sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to comply with the purposes of sentencing.” 18

U.S.C. § 3553(a). 

The Court is required to compute the Guideline Sentencing Range (“GSR”) as a “starting

point and the initial benchmark.”  Gall v. United States, 128 S.Ct. 586, 596 (2007).    Here, there

is no dispute that the GSR is 15-21 months (level 14, CHC I).  However, the Guidelines are not

the sole, nor even the first among the factors that Congress has commanded the courts to apply in

section 3553(a).  The Court “may not presume that the Guidelines range is reasonable” and must

“make an individualized assessment based on the facts presented.”  Id. at 596-7.  Indeed, “the

Guidelines are only one of the factors to consider . . . and 3553(a) directs the judge to consider

sentences other than imprisonment.”  Id. at 602 (emphasis added).  The Supreme Court later

emphasized again that the “Guidelines are not only not mandatory on sentencing courts; they are

also not to be presumed reasonable.”  Nelson v. United States, 129 S.Ct. 890, 892 (2009)

(emphasis in original).

Thus, district courts are now permitted, indeed, directed to consider whether the

Sentencing Commission’s underlying policies, and/or their application to the facts of a particular

case, result in a sentence that is unreasonably high.  See United States v. Kimbrough, 552 U.S.

85, 128 S.Ct. 558, 575 (2007); United States v. Boardman, 528 F.3d 86 (1st Cir. 2008);United

States v. Martin, 520 F.3d 87, 93-94 (1st Cir. 1998).  

The First Circuit elaborated on the meaning and breadth of the so-called parsimony

principle in United States v. Yonathan Rodriguez, 527 F.3d 221 (1st Cir. 2008).  In Rodriguez,

the First Circuit stressed that the Supreme Court ruling in Kimbrough requires a “more holistic
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inquiry” and that “section 3553(a) is more than a laundry list of discrete sentencing factors; it is,

rather, a tapestry of factors, through which runs the thread of an overarching principle.”  Id. at

228.  That overarching principle is to “impose a sentence sufficient but not greater than

necessary.”  Id.  In reaching a decision on what constitutes an appropriate sentence, the district

court should “consider all the relevant factors” and “construct a sentence that is minimally

sufficient to achieve the broad goals of sentencing.”  Id. (emphasis added)

I. An Upward Departure or Variance Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 4A1.3 is not
Warranted.

The government urges an upward departure pursuant to U.S.S.G. §4A1.3.  This guideline 

allows for an upward departure if “reliable information” indicates that the defendant's criminal

history category substantially under-represents the seriousness of his criminal history or the

likelihood the he will commit other crimes.  In this case, the Court should not depart upward

under §4A1.3 because the information presented by the government is not the type of “reliable”

information that typically supports this departure. 

In §4A1.3, the Sentencing Commission delineated certain types of information which

would typically be considered “reliable”:

a. Prior sentence(s) not used in computing the criminal history category (e.g.
sentences for foreign and tribal offenses).

b. Prior sentence(s) of substantially more than one year imposed as a result of
independent crimes committed on different occasions.

c. Prior similar misconduct established by a civil adjudication or by a failure to
comply with an administrative order.
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d. Whether the defendant was pending trial or sentencing on another charge at the
time of the instant offense.

e. Prior similar adult criminal conduct not resulting in a criminal conviction.

See U.S.S.G. § 4A1.3(2)(A-E) (emphasis added).  The guideline specifically distinguishes the

type of information listed above from arrest records, stating “[a] prior arrest record itself shall

not be considered for purposes of an upward departure under this policy statement.”  U.S.S.G. §

4A1.3(a)(3).  This guideline policy statement recognizes the limitation on the value of an arrest

as information about a defendant’s criminal propensity.  See United States v. Zapete-Garcia, 447

F.3d 57, 60-61 (1st Cir. 2006) (noting the distinction between direct evidence of past criminal

behavior and mere arrests that may or may not have been the result of wrongdoing, and noting

that “arrest ‘happens to the innocent as well as the guilty’”citing Michaelson v. United States,

335 U.S. 469, 482 (1948)).  This limitation is relevant here, as the information presented by the

government is in the nature of an accusation whose underlying facts have never been litigated,

Montano has not been criminally charged in El Salvador for his alleged role in the Jesuit

massacre, and the information presented by the government relies upon a series of inferences and

speculation, and does not rise to the level of direct evidence which courts have deemed “reliable”

for the purpose of departing upward under § 4A1.3. 

Although, as the government notes, a criminal history departure can be based on conduct

that “was neither charged nor the subject of a conviction” (Gov. Mem. at 26), in practice it is

rare and done only when sufficient indicia of reliability exists. Thus, for example, in United

States v. Brewster, 127 F.3d 22, 27 (1st Cir. 1997) cited by the government in support of its
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request, the First Circuit affirmed an upward departure on the basis of the defendant’s history of

uncharged domestic violence, but only given the defendant’s refusal to disavow the allegations

when specifically given the opportunity to do so during a colloquy with the court, coupled with

his wife’s notarized statement authored under oath and police reports and issuance of a state

protective order which corroborated that statement.  In United States v. Hardy, 99 F.3d 1242 (1st

Cir. 1996), also cited by the government, the court relied heavily on the fact that defendant never

objected the description of the facts underlying his prior, since vacated, convictions.  Other

courts have noted that the policy statement in §4A1.3 focuses on the accused’s formal record and

emphasizes convictions and the cornerstone of reliability. United States v. Astronomo, 183

F.Supp.2d 158, 174-175 (D. Mass. 2001) (“to be sure, just because the Guidelines seem to give a

judge the discretion to look to criminal conduct rather than convictions, it does not mean that a

judge should do so.  Once one ventures past formal convictions and formal sentences, one is in

troubling territory . . . While §4A1.3 is phrased broadly, in fact the cases in which upward

departures have been granted typically involve some sort of formal proceeding - a formal

investigation by the police, a vacated sentence, or some official act that gives credence to the

additional criminal conduct.”). See also United States  v. Flores, 230 F.Supp.2d 138 (D. Mass.

2002) (rejecting government’s request to depart upward under 4A1.3 to count a conviction

vacated in the state court, and noting that the underlying facts of the conviction had never been

litigated); United States v. Pena, 268 F.Supp.2d 65, 68-69 (D. Mass. 2003) (declining to depart

upward in lieu of lack of reliable information and distinguishing case from United States v.

Footman, 66 F.Supp.2d 83 (D. Mass. 1999) in which defendant made admissions about his prior

criminal conduct);United States v. Ryan, 964 F.Supp.526 (D. Mass. 1997) (rejecting
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government’s request to depart upward under 4A1.3 for witness charged with criminal conduct,

where individual was granted immunity from prosecution for those activities and where evidence

of those activities was speculative).

Furthermore, at least one court has held that under §4A1.3, an upward departure cannot

be grounded on foreign criminal conduct of which the defendant had not been convicted.  See

United States v. Chunza-Plazas, 45 F.3d 51, 56 (2d Cir. 1995).  First, the Chunza-Plazas court

noted that the guidelines give special attention to the role of foreign convictions and sentences in

determining criminal history category, noting that not even foreign sentences may be used

initially in determining criminal history category (U.S.S.G.  §4A1.2(h)) but may be used as a

basis for an upward departure.  The court went on to note that:   

In light of these precise provisions as to how charges and foreign sentences may be
used, it is significant that nowhere do the guidelines specifically authorize the use
of unrelated, uncharged foreign criminal conduct, or even foreign arrests, for a
departure in the criminal history category.  

Id.  The Chunza-Plazas court then rejected the government’s argument that the upward departure

was justified under 4A1.3(e) (“prior similar adult criminal conduct not resulting in a criminal

conviction”), noting that Chunza-Plazas’ alleged acts of terrorism, homicide, and drug dealing in

Columbia were not similar to his possessing false U.S. immigration and social-security

documents. The court also rejected the government’s contention that Chunza-Plazas came to the

United States to avoid punishment for his misdeeds in Columbia.  Id. at 57.5   

5Although the First Circuit in United States v. Brewster rejected the Chunza-Plazas view
that a criminal history departure under 4A1.3(e) must be based on similar conduct, it did not
address the portion of Chunza-Plazas dealing with foreign criminal conduct. Brewster, 127 F.3d
at 27. As discussed above, the reliability of Brewster’s prior misconduct was not seriously in
contention given his refusal to disavow the allegations during a colloquy with the court.
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Although the government urges this court to look at United States v. Boskic, as a “useful

guide” (Gov. Mem. at 26), to applying §4A1.3 in a situation where the prior criminal conduct is

foreign and uncharged, it is not a useful comparison.  In Boskic the defendant’s prior underlying

conduct of murder was not disputed.  In departing upward under §4A1.3 this court specifically

relied upon the fact that Boskic “ha[d] admitted to participating in multiple murders.”  See

United States v. Boskic, No. 04-10298-DPW, Transcript of Sentencing Hearing (“Sent. Tr.”) at

27,  22, 51.  See also United States v. Boskic, 545 F.3d 69 (1st Cir. 2008).6  Boskic’s admissions

satisfied §4A1.3's requirement of reliability.  That type of reliable evidence is not present here.

II.  There is no Basis for Raising the Offense Level Pursuant to U.S.S.G. §5K2.0.

The government cites the Boskic case for the proposition that the base offense level

applicable in Mr. Montano’s case is insufficient and does not capture the “real offense conduct”

in this case.  This argument is wholly dependent on the premise that Mr. Montano fled from El

Salvador to avoid prosecution there for alleged human rights violations including the murders of

the Jesuits and two civilians in 1989.  It is for that reason that the government suggests this court

should utilize 18 U.S.C. § 1073 by analogy to set the base offense level, as it did in Boskic, in

Mr. Montano’s case as a better way to calibrate the seriousness of the offense.

6Although the government requested an upward departure pursuant to §4A1.3 in United
States v. Carlos de Graca Lopes, Criminal Action No. 07-CR-10437-MLW, the district court
declined to address the issue in light of its decision to depart upward under §5K2.0, given
substantial evidence that the defendant fled to the United States after being arrested, questioned,
and ordered not to leave his home country.  A review of the Lopes case indicates that the
evidence presented by the United States regarding Lopes prior misconduct was more substantial
than that presented here, the district court characterized it as “considerable” and noted that it
included multiple witness statements. See Sentencing Transcript at 70-71. 
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This argument is valid only in the instance where the government can establish that a

person “can be prosecuted for his actions and flees”.  See United States v. Frank, 864 F.2d 992,

1007 (3rd Cir.1988), Emphasis added.  Mr. Montano concedes that Section 1073 can be applied

regardless of whether formal criminal charges were pending against him in El Salvador prior to

his departure in 2001.  However, the government’s argument fails in suggesting that Mr.

Montano could have been prosecuted in El Salvador for the Jesuit murders prior to his departure. 

The general amnesty law that was in place from 1993 forward eliminated the potential for

prosecution in El Salvador and that distinguishes Mr. Montano’s situation from that of Boskic. 

Further, this court referenced Section 1073 in Boskic’s case because he had personally admitted

to committing acts of violence in his home country; Mr. Montano maintains his innocence

regarding any participation in the Jesuit murders or in human rights abuses in El Salvador.

Similarly, the government’s reference to United States v. Lopes, No. 07-10437-MLW for the

proposition that an upward departure in offense level is appropriate here fails for the same

reasons.  It was established in the Lopes case that the defendant had criminal charges pending

against him in Cape Verde for assaulting prisoners in his custody.  See Gov. Mem. pp. 25.  No

criminal charges have ever been filed in El Salvador against Mr. Montano.

III.  The Karl Report and Relevant Conduct cited by the Government do not
Form a Valid Basis for a Sentence Above the Applicable Range.

Under 18 U.S.C. § 3553 (a), the Court must evaluate the information before it concerning

Mr. Montano’s history and characteristics.  This is premised on the proposition that the

information is accurate and conveys credible facts that can be referenced to aid the Court in

making a sentencing decision.  As explained in more detail below, the government has presented
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a report by Prof. Terry Lynn Karl that does not present a complete and or reliable picture of what

was happening in El Salvador during the time of its civil war.   It is based upon a limited

knowledge of the country’s laws, governmental, and military hierarchies.  The government has

also made much of Mr. Montano’s responses to other questions answered on the I-821 regarding

prior military service.  The suggestion is that these answers evidence his desire to hide his

military background while here in the United States.  Like the Karl Report, the government has

not given the Court all of the information surrounding why those answers were given and made a

suggestion that is out of context.  

A. Mr. Montano is Not Responsible for the Human Rights Abuses cited in the
Karl Report.  

The GSR that applies in this case (15-21 months) more than captures the offense conduct

which is succinctly described as follows:  false statements made by Mr. Montano in the I-821

application for three separate years, signed under the pains and penalties of perjury, specifically

regarding his date of entry into the United States.   As described above, Mr. Montano’s decision

to enter and remain in the United States was made in the wake of the natural disasters and

financial difficulties that negatively affected  his day to day living situation in El Salvador. 

There is no evidence that he was so plagued by any real or even speculative fear of prosecution

for human rights violations in El Salvador that he felt an irresistible desire to flee.  The fact that

he remained in El Salvador for a decade after the Jesuit murders is significant evidence that

undermines the government’s contentions.  Ultimately, the Karl Report’s attempts to link Mr.

Montano to these murders and to a lengthy list of human rights violations perpetrated by

Salvadoran military elements are tenuous and misinformed. 
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In order to present the Court with a rebuttal to the Karl Report’s assertions in this regard,

Mr. Montano has previously submitted the report of retired General Mauricio Ernesto Vargas. 

See Docket entry 72, “Vargas Report”.7  General Vargas is currently a respected businessman,

religious activist, political analyst, and Professor at the Colegio de Altos Estudios Estrategicos

(CAEE) in his native El Salvador.  General Vargas was a respected member of the Salvadoran

military that was asked to be a part of the special Commission formed to discuss and generate the

Chapultepec Peace Accords of 1993.  The Commission was composed of representatives of both

sides of the conflict, the government /El Salvador Armed forces (“ESAF”) and the FMLN.  He

was a signatory on this peace agreement and can offer this Court a unique view into the

Salvadoran military command structure and the events surrounding the murder of the Jesuits in

1989.

    Further, General Vargas describes the organized campaign of propaganda and

misinformation carried on by the FMLN during the Salvadoran civil war and offers a more

balanced and accurate view of events than Prof. Karl.  The main goal of the FMLN”s efforts was

to win public support by casting the Salvadoran government and the military as oppressors and

murderous villains.  The FMLN’s viewpoint was summarily adopted by the United States

Congressional Delegation, led by then Congressman Joseph Moakley, whose goal it was to lead

a partisan effort to end America’s financial and military support of the government of El

Salvador.  Moreover the FMLN’s views permeate the United Nation’s Truth Commission Report

that this delegation helped generate.  That report accuses Mr. Montano of complicity in the Jesuit

7Defense counsel submitted General Vargas’ original report written in Spanish.  The
report is being translated for the Court’s and the government’s benefit and will be submitted
when received.
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murders because of his presence at a meeting in November of 1989 at which high-level members

of the military purportedly gave the order to kill Father Igancio Ellacuria and his associates at

the Catholic University (“UCA”).  General Vargas presents information in his report that

exonerates Mr. Montano from any involvement in the deaths of the Jesuits. 

United States Sentencing Guidelines Section 6A1.3 (a) advises that when any factor

important to the sentencing determination is reasonably in dispute, the parties are allowed an

opportunity to present information regarding that factor.  Although the Court can consider this

information without regard to its admissibility under the rules of evidence applicable at a trial,

the information has to have a sufficient indicia of reliability to support its probable accuracy.  In

this case, the government is utilizing the information provided in the Karl Report to

unnecessarily distract the Court from the real offense conduct in this case and attempt to obtain a

much higher sentence than the guidelines suggest.

    As is highlighted by General Vargas, the Karl Report contains various factual errors and

relays a one-sided view of past events in El Salvador. It clearly minimizes the violent role of the

FMLN in the Salvadoran conflict as well as its forceful efforts to misinform the local population,

and the international community, about the government’s and the military’s activities.  In the

case of United States v. Boskic, this Court stated that it saw a “certain due process problem that

is related to having someone charged with a particular crime and using that to obtain a sentence

for a much more severe crime”.  See United States v. Boskic, 04-10298-DPW, Transcript of

Sentencing Hearing on November 26, 2006, pp. 16, ll. 18-21.  This is precisely what the

government is attempting to do in Mr. Montano’s case through the use of the Karl Report.
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One of the many points that the Vargas Report makes is that if there were any truth to

Mr. Montano’s complicity in a lengthy list of human rights violations as a member of the

Salvadoran military and Defense Ministry, why is there no evidence of any criminal

investigation, criminal conviction, or civil lawsuit naming him in El Salvador over the last two

decades?  See attached Exhibit B, Appendix to the Vargas Report, Various certifications from El

Salvador indicating no criminal convictions for Inocente Orlando Montano.  Granted, the

government’s arguments regarding the power of the so called Tandona’s membership and the

general fear they allegedly instilled in the populace might have kept people silent for the time

that they retained authority but that period ended long ago.  Further, the remnants of the FMLN

formed a powerful political party in the aftermath of the Peace Accords.  As cited in the Karl

Report, the FMLN became a strong voice in the Salvadoran legislature from the year 2000

onward.  This culminated in the election of the country’s first FMLN party President, Mauricio

Funes, on March 15, 2009.   Even in the wake of this unprecedented political shift, Mr. Montano

has not been accused, sought for prosecution, or been named in any wrongful death or other type

of civil lawsuit.  Neither has he been named in a civil suit in the United States as have others

such as former Generals Jose Guillermo Garcia and Carlos Eugenio Vides Casanova in Florida.  

The Karl Report misstates a number of points regarding Mr. Montano’s military career. 

It is inaccurate to state that “Throughout Colonel Montano’s 30-year military career, he ordered,

abetted, and assisted, and/or commanded troops that participated in a strategy of state terror

against civilians.”  See Karl Report, pp. 1.  The Salvadoran civil war (during which 100% of the

human rights abuses cited by the Karl Report in Appendix II occurred) took place over a 12 year

period beginning in 1980; it did not last three decades.  Further, the Karl Report fails to describe
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the positive humanitarian efforts made by Mr. Montano during his tenure in the Salvadoran

military as described in the Vargas Report.  The civil war pitted the ESAF against the rebel

guerilla forces of the FMLN.  Civilian casualties took place as result of this conflict, as they

would in any violent civil war, but it was not due to a targeted effort by the government and the

ESAF to harm the civilian populace.  Moreover, many of these deaths occurred as result of the

FMLN’s activities and abuse of the civilian population to attain its goals.  Again, those instances

are entirely ignored by the Karl Report.

In another factually erroneous assertion, the Karl Report states that Mr. Montano was

sent to Chile to receive training in intelligence methods and that this circumstance necessarily

made him an admirer of Chilean General Pinochet.  See Karl Report, pp. 38.  This information is

purportedly derived from an interview with a former Salvadoran army Colonel who was a

commander of Mr. Montano’s.  Id. at footnote 163.  It is not clear who conducted this interview

in October of 2012 or whether Mr. Montano was directly referenced by this individual.  The

reality is that Mr. Montano never met General Pinochet and there is no formal documentation in

his Salvadoran military service record that indicates he ever received training in Chile or any

assignment in that country.  See Vargas Report, pp. 38.  Further, Mr. Montano was an engineer

and not an intelligence specialist while with the ESAF so he would not have received such

specialized training in that area.  Id.  Lastly, it is erroneous to state that Chile was ever

considered a leader in intelligence training methods by other Latin American countries. 

According to General Vargas, El Salvador developed its own military intelligence protocols with

some guidance from the United States.
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The Vargas Report cites further factual errors in Prof. Karl’s conclusions that evidence

the use of unreliable informational sources and a fundamental misunderstanding of both the

command structure of the Salvadoran military and the governmental hierarchy.  These repeated

inaccuracies cast serious doubt on the dataset provided to this Court and described as Appendix

II of the Karl Report.  See Karl Report, pp. 6.  This is the table that lists the names of various

victims of human rights abuses, the units of the ESAF that were allegedly responsible for these

crimes, the dates of the incidents, and the dates of various military command assignments for

Mr. Montano.  The acceptance of this information as reliable by this Court is of some moment as

Prof. Karl attributes over 1,000 violations of human rights to units or troops under Mr.

Montano’s command.  Id. 

This table of information does not state that Mr. Montano ever gave specific orders to

commit each of these particular alleged abuses; it does not even offer proof that he personally

knew of any of these incidents.  Prof. Karl’s argument regarding Mr. Montano’s liability for the

individual abuses allegedly committed by the troops in his charge is based in the civil legal

theory of “command responsibility”.  This is the argument that she used to help obtain civil, not

criminal, judgements against former Salvadoran Generals Jose Guillermo Garcia and Carlos

Eugenio Vides Casanova in their South Florida 2002 case.  See Romagoza et al. v. Garcia et al.,

434 F.3d 1354 (11th Cir.2007).  One key element of the command responsibility doctrine is the

need to establish that  the Salvadoran military and security forces were the main perpetrators of

the particular abuses and that Generals Garcia and Casanova held command positions at that

time. 
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The Karl Report falls short in straining to connect Mr. Montano’s command assignments

with the lengthy list of human rights violations listed in Appendix II.  Utilizing the command

responsibility doctrine espoused by Prof. Karl, does her report establish with some indicia of

reliability that the human rights abuses listed (1) were exclusively committed by ESAF troops?

and (2) that Mr. Montano’s various  military assignments gave him direct authority over battle

operations in the field?  In terms of question one, the Karl Report attributes essentially 100% of

the deaths and human rights abuses that took place over the course of the Salvadoran conflict to

the ESAF.  That is an extreme misstatement that is undeniably inaccurate.  This is a consequence

of the United Nations Truth Commission findings which overwhelmingly blamed the majority of

violent acts in El Salvador’s civil war (85%) on state security forces, the ESAF and allied “death

squads”.  The sources of information which form the basis of the Truth Commission report were

compiled with the help of an American Congressional Delegation and other liberal leaning

groups that championed the FMLN in their efforts to stop United States aid to the Salvadoran

government and the ESAF. 

What Prof. Karl relegates to a handful of footnotes in her report and does not discuss in

any meaningful detail is that this same United Nations sponsored investigation found that the

FMLN  killed civilians, shot prisoners, and committed other war crimes. 

http://articles.latimes.com/1993-03-18/news/mn-12349_1_war-crimes.  The Marxist guerillas

adopted deliberate and approved policies that violated basic human rights and were aimed at

non-military and therefore illegitimate targets.  Id.  The FMLN executed government officials in

war zones, planted land mines that killed innocent victims, and killed two United States military

servicemen.  The Salvadoran government itself was critical of the Truth Commission findings
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saying it was biased and paid little attention to most of the crimes committed by the FMLN. 

Vice President Francisco Merino stated “It really makes you wonder that such care was taken to

detail the information related to military officers in each case, but not with the murders and

kidnaping attributed to the FMLN...It suggests a certain imbalance.”  Id.    The Salvadoran

public was also skeptical regarding the United Nations investigation and the concentration of

violent acts it attributed to one FMLN group, the People’s Revolutionary Army.  The reaction

came because it was common knowledge that many other FMLN factions committed similar acts

of violence and human rights violations. Id.   Thus, even in acknowledging the FMLN”s

contribution to war crimes and human rights abuses, the United Nations was still minimizing

their overall role in the violence.  This is of importance as the lengthy listing of human rights

violations that were submitted via the Karl Report in Appendix II may very well be attributable

to FMLN forces as opposed to ESAF troops associated with Mr. Montano.  As added proof of

his non-involvement in the listing of incidents in Appendix II of the Karl Report, Mr. Montano

has submitted the Vargas Report and its Appendix, Exhibit B.  The Vargas Appendix contains

various certifications from the geographical areas cited in the Karl Report as being the locales

for various human rights abuses El Salvador.  The documents from these districts of El Salvador

contained in the Vargas Appendix indicate that no criminal cases or investigations are pending

against Mr. Montano.

More importantly, the Vargas Report highlights that Mr. Montano’s former position as

Executive Officer of the Belloso Battalion did not entail direct authority to oversee troop

operations in the field.  General Vargas explains that as Executive Officer, Mr. Montano’s duties

would have been largely administrative in nature and would have been confined to the orderly
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oversight of various military installations in El Salvador that housed ESAF troops.  As Executive

Officer of the Belloso Battalion, Mr. Montano would have remained at these military

installations and not been present on the battle field.  In the Salvadoran military hierarchy, direct

orders to troops in the field would not have come from the Executive Officer of a specific ESAF

unit, they would have come from a field operations officer.

 

B.  Mr. Montano had no Involvement in the Jesuit Murders.

As described in the Vargas Report, in November of 1989, the FMLN launched

coordinated attacks upon El Salvador’s key military bases and brought 2,000 combatants into the

capital city of San Salvador.  The offensive was grand in scale and insurgents gained control of

various geographic zones both inside and surrounding the perimeter of the capital.  During the

first night of the offensive, the FMLN attacked the residences of Salvadoran President Alfredo

Cristiani, Vice President Francisco Merino, the President of the Legislative Assembly, as well as

those of other governmental figures.  The violence included the use of civilians as human shields

by FMLN guerillas.  They also forced civilians to build fortified barricades to strengthen their

hold in these areas.  Further, on November 12, 1989, FMLN forces took control of Santa Teresa

Hospital in the district of Zacatecoluca and destroyed it.  This hospital was used to treat

wounded ESAF troops and many were killed as a result of that attack.

In an effort to combat the FMLN offensive and retain control of the capital city, a form of

martial law was imposed in which independent military units of the ESAF were given control

over each of the country’s jurisdictional zones.  On November 13, 1989, the ESAF designated

that Colonel Guillermo Alfredo Benavides Moreno would be in charge of the military unit
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responsible for security of the Military Academy zone.  This area encompassed the Office of the

Ministry of Defense, the headquarters of the ESAF (“Estado Mayor”), the residential districts of

Arce and Palermo (areas primarily containing the residences of members of the military which

were under attack from FMLN forces), the United States Consulate, and the area comprising the

Catholic University (“UCA”).  Colonel Benavides and troops based at the Military Academy

were responsible for the deaths of the Jesuits and two civilians who accompanied them.  They

were tried and convicted for their actions.  These murders took place at the height of the chaos

created by the FMLN offensive.  These actions were not sanctioned or ordered by Mr. Montano

in his capacity at the time as Vice Minister of Public Security for El Salvador.

In his detailed description of the governmental and military heirarchy existing in El

Salvador in November of 1989, General Vargas notes that Mr. Montano’s public security post

attached him to agencies such as the National Police, National Guard, and Treasury Police. 

There is no dispute that none of these agencies were implicated in the deaths of the Jesuits. 

Colonel Benavides, not Vice Minister Montano, had complete authority of the military elements

that were responsible for these actions.  Mr. Montano’s position as Vice Minister would not have

given him such authority over the military units controlled by Colonel Benavides during a time

of military/national emergency.  The Vargas Report describes that Mr. Montano did not have a

hand in the deaths of the Jesuits and the civilians at the UCA in November of 1989 and that he

did nothing to attempt to cover the tracks of those responsible or hinder that investigation in any

way.

C.  Mr. Montano Never Purposely misled Immigration Authorities about his
History with the Salvadoran Military.
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During his time with the Salvadoran military, Mr. Montano trained with American

Special Forces Units here in the United States and worked alongside representatives of this

country in El Salvador during the civil war.  In addition, he visited the United States as Vice

Minister of Public security in the early 1990's as part of the United States Department of

Justice’s I.C.I.T.A.P. program devoted to curbing the potential for human rights abuses in El

Salvador and improving that country’s law enforcement techniques.  It seems to strain credulity

that the United States government did not know who Inocente Orlando Montano was when he

entered the country in 2001.  More than one United States governmental agency undoubtedly

had detailed information regarding former Colonel and Vice Minister Montano and his

name/identity would have been placed on some form of watch list if there was any reason to

believe he was a war criminal in El Salvador.  America’s intimate involvement with the

Salvadoran civil war makes it highly unlikely that the government would not have been aware of

Mr. Montano’s presence here.

It is within this context that the government suggests Mr. Montano actively tried to hide

his military background from United States immigration authorities.  How was that

accomplished?  Mr. Montano never used a false name or identification and given his prior high-

level status within the Salvadoran government and military, it is highly unlikely that using his

true identification information would have helped him hide from any governmental agency. 

Moreover, he lived at only three different addresses in Massachusetts, one for over ten years,

during his time in the United States.  Again, not a tactic designed to avoid detection by the

authorities.

-29-

Case 1:12-cr-10044-DPW   Document 75   Filed 04/23/13   Page 29 of 34



The government focuses its argument that Mr. Montano actively tried to hide his

involvement with the Salvadoran military on the responses to three questions appearing in the

2008 and 2010 versions of the TPS application.  See Gov. Memo. pp 7.  Mr. Montano answered

“NO” to each of the questions listed.  It is important to note that these questions did not appear in

the TPS application form prior to 2008 and Mr. Montano had been applying for the benefit since

his arrival in the United States in 2001.  Further, Grand Jury testimony in Mr. Montano’s case

indicates that these particular TPS forms were filled out and submitted with the aid of Mr.

Montano’s niece, Claudia Rivas.  She testified at the proceedings that it was routine for her to fill

out the TPS forms for her uncle, answering the questions for him and then having him sign the

application.  She also indicated that he did not even read the questions on the occasions that she

helped him.

Ms. Rivas indicated that she answered these questions in the negative because, for the

most part, she felt they did no apply to her uncle as they asked about involvement in paramilitary

units, vigilante units, rebel and or guerilla groups, and insurgent organizations.  A respected

member of the ESAF in El Salvador would not be included in those categories.  Further, she felt

there was no basis to answer in the affirmative concerning a question about being affiliated with

groups that used weapons against people or who threatened to do so.  Again, this implied

criminal activity and she did not believe her uncle fell into this category as a legitimate member

of the Salvadoran military.  Mr. Montano acknowledged these points in statements he made to

law enforcement agents.  See Gov. Memo., pp. 9.  Ultimately, although there is some confusion

regarding who filled out these forms and how much participation Mr. Montano had in the

process, it seems clear that Ms. Rivas was doing what she felt was necessary to obtain the TPS
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benefit for her uncle yet filling out these forms without carefully reading them.  Ms. Rivas’

grand jury testimony is attached as Exhibit C and the Court can glean from her comments that

both she and her uncle were confused by these questions and did not purposefully provide false

answers to any question other than the date of entry issue.  See attached Exhibit C, Grand Jury

Testimony of Claudia Rivas.

     

III. The Proposed Sentence Will Provide Just Punishment and Satisfies the
Statutory Sentencing Factors.

The proposed sentence of five years of probation represents a substantial penalty that

adequately reflects the seriousness of the offense of conviction, will promote respect for the law,

and provide just punishment as required by section 3553(a)(2)(A).  While it is easy to become

inured to enormous sentences in the federal system, a federal felony conviction resulting five

years of probation and deportation after a lengthy period of time in the United States is

substantial.   As the Supreme Court noted in Gall v. United States, 128 S.Ct. 586 (2007),

probation and/or supervised release amount to a “substantial restriction of freedom.”  Id. at 595. 

A judge in this district observed in one of the first sentencing hearings it conducted after Gall:

Gall recognized for the very first time in a very long time that probation is not
nothing, that there are substantial restrictions on an individual’s freedom in
probation, that we can structure a probationary sentence that meets all the
purposes of sentencing, and that is entirely appropriate. This was one of the
things that the guidelines ignored, and the guidelines dramatically changed from
preguideline practice and which the Supreme Court is essentially saying we can
now look at again.

United States v. Ramos, 04-10275 (D. Mass. 2008) (excerpt of sentencing

transcript filed with Judgment, dkt # 62) (ordering probationary sentence for oxycontin

trafficking).
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The proposed sentence will be more than sufficient to deter Mr. Montano from similar

crimes in the future, as required by sections 3553(a)(2)(B) and (C).  The interest in general

deterrence will be served by the proposed period of probation and its collateral consequences. 

Nobody looking at what happened to Mr. Montano could mistakenly conclude that giving false

responses in an immigration form is not a serious crime.  All of this of course is predicated on

the Court concluding that Mr. Montano is not a war criminal or a collaborator in the deaths of

the Jesuits and two civilians at the UCA in 1989.  The Vargas Report offers detailed proof that

these assertions are incorrect and that any casualties resulting from Mr. Montano’s involvement

with the Salvadoran military were the consequence of a legitimate, and non-criminally

motivated, defense of El Salvador and its government.  This effort was sanctioned and

encouraged by the United States of America during the years that the civil war continued in an

effort to defeat the communist threat presented by the FMLN and its international supporters.  

There are no data to suggest that a longer sentence would have any marginally greater

deterrent effect.  Indeed, research consistently has shown that “increases in the severity of

punishments do not yield significant (if any) marginal deterrent effects.”  Michael Tonry,

Purposes and Functions of Sentencing, 34 CRIME & JUST. 1, 28 (2006).  “Three National

Academy of Science panels . . .reached that conclusion, as has every major survey of the

evidence.”  Id.

Finally, Mr. Montano as at little risk of reoffending.  Relocating to El Salvador via

deportation will prevent him from entering the United States and seeking any type of

immigration status for an indefinite period of time.  Uprooting him from his current and long
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term home and separating him from his family locally will be a hardship that is a consequence of

this conviction.

Turning to section 3553(a)(2)(D), Mr. Montano is not in need of correctional treatment of

the sort that a prison or jail facility is uniquely equipped to provide.  Mr. Montano’s serious

health issues require constant monitoring by medical professionals and regular treatment with

various medications.  Any lengthy period of incarceration would only serve to aggravate the

poor physical condition of this 70 year old man.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should impose the recommended sentence of five

years of probation.  No fine should be imposed in light of Mr. Montano’s inability to pay any

fine.

Respectfully submitted,

INOCENTE ORLANDO MONTANO

by his attorney

 /s/ Oscar Cruz, Jr.                    
Oscar Cruz, Jr., Esq.
B.B.O. No. 630813
FEDERAL PUBLIC DEFENDER OFFICE
51 Sleeper Street, 5th Floor
Boston, MA 02210
617-223-8061
OSCAR_CRUZ@FD.ORG
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Certificate of Service

I, Oscar Cruz, Jr., hereby certify that this document filed through the ECF system will be
sent electronically to the registered participants as identified on the Notice of Electronic Filing
(NEF) on April 23, 2013.

  /s/ Oscar Cruz, Jr.                   
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Ministero de Justicia y Seguridad Pdblica,
Direcctôr, General de Cent-os Penales.

* DIRECCION GENERAL DE CENTROS PENALES

EL SALVADOR

CERTIFICACION DE ANTECEDENTES PENALES

Vista Ia solicitud deAntecedente Penal No.065751 de fecha: 11 de Diciembre de 2012.

A nombre de el(a) Senor(a) (nta): INOCENTE ORLANDO MONTANO, con Pasaporte de

Identidad No.A70127630; hijo (a) ANTONIO MORALES y de EMILIAMONTANO.

Que será destinada para trámites: MIGRATORIOS.

La suscrita hace constar que a Ia fecha a nombre de Ia persona antes mencionada

segün el registro que esta direcciOn Ileva NO TIENE Antecedentes Penales por

Sentencia Condenatoria Ejecutoriada en su contra, por imputársele delito.

Par Ia que se le extiende Ia presente certificaciOn a requerimiento del el(a)

Señor(rita): JENNYE MARGARITA MONTANO DE BASAGOITIA, en su calidad de Persona

Autorizada con Documento Unico de Identidad No.02382569-9 en las instalaciones de Ia

Dirección General de Centros Penales, San Salvador, 11 de Diciembre de 2012.

IIJRM.docj/S.R.A.

La presente certificación consta de 01 folio

CUALQUIER ALTERACION ANULA LA PRESENTE CERTIFICACION
ESTE DOCUMENTO SOLO ES VALIDO DURANTE EL PERIODO DE NOVENTA DIAS

CON SUS RESPECTIVOS SELLOS Y FIRMA ORIGINALES
I

ien Judith Moren
Suplente de Sucursal

Registro de Armas

No.22G 753
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MINISTERIO DE JUSTICIA Y SEGURIDAD PUBLICA
AUTENTICAS

frascrito Encargado de la Unidad de Auténticas del Ministerio de

Justicia y Seguridad Püblica CERTIFICA: que la firma que antecede y

que esta debidamente sellada y registrada, es la misma que usa la

Licenciada KARLEN JUDITH MORENO GONZALEZ, como

colaboradora de la sucursal de Antecedentes Penales en el Registro de

Armas de San Salvador. Esta autenticaciOn se limita a la firma

mencionada y no se responsabiliza del contenido del documento.

San Salvador, dieciocho diciembre dos mu doce.

py •1;”/ / /f771tvvvi I
flaenco
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(

9. SeIlo/timbre:
Seal! stamp:

Sceau /timbre:

10. Firma:
Signature:

Signature:

RR:EE.

N2 175504

This Apostille only certifies the authenticity of the signature and the capacity of the person who has signed the public
documen/tand, where appropriate, the identity of the seal or stamp which the public document bears.

This Apostille does not certify the content of the document for which it was issued.

Cette Apostille atteste uniquement a véracité de a signature, Ia qualité en laquelle le signataire de racte a agi et, le cas
echéant, fidentité du sceau ou timbre dont cet acte public est revétu.

Cette Apostille ne certifle pas le contenu de l’acte pour lequel elle a été émise.

EXONERADO DE DERECHOS CONSULARES

MINISTERIO DE RELACIONES EXTERIORES

. APOSTILLE
(Convention de La Haye du 5 octobre 1961)

1. Pals: EL SALVADOR
Country! Pays

El presente documento pblico
This public document! Le present acte public

2. Ha sido firmado por JORGE ALBERTO MULATO FL4MENCO
Has been signed by
A été signé par

3. Quien actüa en calidad de ENCARGADO DE LA UNIDAD DE AUTENTICAS
Acting in the capacity of
Agissant en qualité de

4. Y está revestido del sello/ timbre de MINISTERIO DE JUSTICIA Y SEGURIDAD PUBLIA.
Bears the seal! stamp of
Est revétu du sceau ! timbre de

Certificado

Certified ! Attesté
5. En MINISTERIO DE RELACIONES EXTERIORES 6. El dIa 18/12/2012

at/a ) thei’le
7. Por

by! par TECNICO VI DE LA DIRECCION GENERAL DEL SERVICIO EXTERIOR
8. Bajo el nimero 25346/12

No. /

Sous No .

;
..

-

Tipo de documento: ANTECEDENTES PENALES
(Type of document — Type du document:)•

MARIA DIG NA MELGAR ROMERO

Nümero de hojas que contiene el documento: 2
(Number of sheets contained in the document -- Nombre
de feuilles continues dans le document:)

Esta Apostilla cerflca ünicamente Ia autenticidad de a firma, a calidad en que el signatario del documento haya actuado y,
en su caso, Ia identidad del sello o timbre del que el documento pUblico esté revesdo.

-Esta Apostilla no certifica el ccntenido del dccumento para el cual se expidió. —

-/
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POLICIA NACIONAL CIVIL
UNIDAD DE REGISTRO Y ANTECEDENTES POUCIALES

La infrascrita Jefa de Ia Unidad de Registro y Antecedentes Policiales de Ia

Policla Nacional Civil de El Salvador, INSPECTORA AMANDA PATRICIA

GUZMAN VARELA, CERTIFICA: Que se han revisado los sistemas

informáticos de antecedentes policiales que esta lnstituciOn policial Ileva para

los efectos de ley, y a Ia fecha no se encontró, a nivel nacional

antecedentes policiales pendientes ni fenecidos, en contra de INOCENTE

ORLANDO MONTANO, nacido en el Departamento de San Vicente, RepUblica

de El Salvador, el dia cuatro de Julio de mil novecientos cuarenta y dos, de

nacionalidad salvadoreña, del domicilio actual de San Salvador y residente en

Ia Ciudad de Boston Massachusetts, hijo de EMILIA MONTANO Y ANTONIO

MORALES. Y a solicitud de Ia señora JENNYE MARGARITA MONTANO DE

BASAGOITIA, para efectos de ser presentada ante las autoridades u

organismos nacionales o extranjeros que fueren requeridos, extiendo, firmo y

sello Ia presente certificaciOn de antecedentes policiales, en Ia Ciudad de San

Salvador, RepUblica de El lvador, a los veinticinco dIas del mes de Octubre

de dos mil once.

* Cualquier alteración anula el presente documento.

* No puede ser utilizado con fines distintos al especificado.

idad de Registro
‘tecedentes Policiales
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pDOR

RR.EE.

N2 125057

MINISTERIO DE RELACIONES EXTERIORES

-k ;

APOSTILLE
(Convention de la Haye du 5 de Octobre 1961)

1. Pals: EL SALVADOR

El presente documento Püblico

2. Ha sido firmado por: AMANDA PATRICIA GUZMAN VARELA

3. Quien actiia en calidad de: JEFA DE LA UNIDAD IDE REGISTRO Y
ANTECEDENTES POLICIALES

4. Y está revestido del sello de: POLICIA NACIONAL CIVIL

CERTIFICADO

5. En: MINISTERIO /DE RELACIONES EXTERIORES

6. El dia 21—12-2011

7. Por: TECNICO VI EN LA DIRECCION GENERAL DEL SERVICIO
EXTERIOR

8. Bajoelnürnero: 25288/2011

9 .

— .

\,‘T

10.Firma
EXONERADO DE DERECHOS
CONSULARES

/ I IGNA MELGAR ROMERO
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